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The connet /ion between liichand “outJiey and the
annexation of le Diamond .delds has often been hinted
at. V.rious listord mo, such as .rofesror L. b =m
Fro .'escor Brie Walker and :r. Ad'ar-: milton have made
mention of the fact that Southey had played a leading
part without giving any detail' . The purpose of
e/say is to supply those .etails.

The main materials used were the South®°y papers,
which are in the ! ..tioncl Archives, Cape own. Several
important letters have already been printed in v/ilmot’s
"Life and Tir es of Sir Rich rd Southey'", but that author
did not Iways show their exact be rinp on the dispute.
Af far as possible, I have let the facts speak or
themselves, and owir_ to the nature of the study, have
quoted at great length. Tlie modes of citation appeer
in the bibliography.

In conclusion, I must tliank Lr. riter o 1
Archives, and his Staff, ho were extremely kind,
obliging and patient, and finally Professor L. Touché,

Who has been moot encouraging over a number of years.

rtin or It%
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I N1t0DUCI O RY *

From the time when van Hlebeeck. tried to confine the
white settlement at the Cape behind a hedge till the middle
of the 19th century, expansion at the Cape has usually been
in spite of an unwilling Government. And in 1652 and 1854
the British Government definitely forsook that interest which
she was willy nllly forced to have in Trans Orangia. It was
a time when colonies were regarded as useless encumberanees
and mill-atones round the collective neck of the British tax
payer.

But from about 1858 onwards there was a noticeable change
in British Colonial policy. The “heals of the Colonial office
in Bigland found its antithesis in the expansionists at the
Cape, and together they s>nthesi sect the new policy of British
interest North of the Orange. Briefly, what was happening was
this: Britain had decided thf her colonies must pay for them-
selves; and as deadlocks between Home Government, Governor and
Cape parliament had proved Responsible Government was a very
necessary adjunct to any successful carrying out of such an
idea. But whereas Responsible Government was introduced into
the majority of colonies at an early date* the position at
the Cape was considerably more co mplicated. The relations
between the comparatively weak Dutch Republics and the native
tribes were a constant menace to the peace and security Of the
colony. It was realised that no resulting conflagration could
ever be effectively localised* It becamA necessary in the eyes
of the Colonial office to shift tbespheres of control in order

to be ab e to exercise some measure of restraint north of the
Orange. Schemes of Union or federation were already being mooted

The expansionist school had a different viewpoint. They did

/ not



not envisage the expansion of British control with a view
to its ultimate withdrawal. 1It,on the other hand, saw its
interests as well as that of Britain inextricably entangled
with events in Trans Orangia. For them the '"Rofid to the
North* was no uere dramatic or sentimental gesture; it was
coui.d economics.

The two opposing ideas htd, hewever, the same result.
mtj we see Britain advancing into the interior by successive
stages of annexation. First Basutoland, then Griqualana West,
then the Transvaale A veritable *Drang noch Norden" on a
small scale.

It was natural in the circumstances that Southey should
nave been the focal point of thetwo new iaeas. Southey him-
self was an expansionist. From his papers we learn tl-t .e
was a bitter opponent of the Republic* and more than once put
forward schemes whereby native tribes could be used with ad-
vantage against them. Nor did he see ary evil in say, quell-
ing the Orange Free State by the Basuto nation in alliance
with Great Britain. But we e&nnot call him a negrophiliat.
Southey was always mouthing pious phrases about the native
being squeezed out of hia rights by the Boers, or sententious
phrases of natives being allowed to remain in possession of
their lands - a notion based on ordinary principles of jus-
tice. But unfortunately the Colonial Secretary as Lieutenant
Governor gave the lie direct to his otn preaching. When he
wau the head of Grlquaiand West the natives were to lose
what J1.tie land had been left to them.

Southey was interested in British expansion in South
Africa for business reasons. Reasons which received renewed
stimulus from the discovery of diamonds - a discovery which
from the very start moved Southey profoundly. The pro-native
sympathies of his superiors were therefore used as a veil to

/ screen



screen their own perceptions ar;d hue om utteririgs as a
cloak over his more material aims¥*

It is perhaps not surprising that the events con-
nected with the Diamond Fields should have been of an
unsatisfactory character* In the first instance we find
a group of whites taking with them into the interior,
their ideas cf private ownership of land, contract and
general conceptions of European Law, to find themselves
living side by side with a peot.le whose conception of all
these things was differente The obvious result of such
ci rcuinstone es must be that the ru'.ts laid down for mutual
recognition are usually unilateral and have the binding
force of le.w only vrhilt the Europeans choose to regard
them as such. Rules were then constantly falling into
disuse and the necessity of formally abolishing them was
never recognised* There was, therefore, a fruitful store-
house of obsolete legislation which could be used by the
unscrupulous. Theory was continually contradicted by fact,
and the spirit of the law was often in conflict with its?
latter.

One such glaring example was the controversy which
raged round the ownership of the Diamond Fields« The dis-
pute fauy be divided into two parts* Firstly, we have the
claim of the Orange Free State to tht Campbell .tends, which
lying to the West of the VatU. hiver tney claimed to have
bought from Henry Harvey in 1861, and also to the land
bounded by the Vetberg line and a line drawn from Hamah to
David's Oraf thence to Flatberg at the junction of the Riet
and Mbdder rivers* Here the Free State claim wasbased upon
the actual settlement and the exercise of jurisdiction stretch
Ing over soue period. It rested also on the complete col-

lapse of the Grlqua Treaty States of Dr. Philip* The process



of siee >tate settlement we9 akin to the type usually
round on frontiers - irregular, incapable of documentary
evidence and a process whereby the European farmers pre-
gressively possessed tnemselves of the best lands. Arnot
revived against this the claims of the Griqua Chiefs to
a "territorial sovereignty which had almost crumbled away
1) His argument was based on the treaties of 1834 rnd 1843
which the British Government hect ade with Andrles Waterboer
and Adam Kok respectively. These treaties recognised them
a", independent chiefs and “tve them a measure of territorial
sovereigntye

Later Brand shifted his ground somewhat and brought
in the Bloemfontein Convention. The Bloemfontein Convention
was among other things the negation of Sir Harry Smith's
Orange Hiver sovereignty* His proclamation in 1848 was a
well meaning measure* It, therefore, occasions no surprise
to find that it was misunderstood. It, was not meant to be a
measure £or the aggrandisement of British territory, but
rather a move to procure stable government, peace and order
across the Grange* Perhaps Sir Harry alone appreciated all
ito subtleties. However, Southey's views are worth atten-
tion ae he was the Governor's secretary at the time* The
territory reverted in 1854 to the Status Quo and the Boerc,
while continuing to recognise the sovereignty of the native
chiefs, proceeded to displace their people 1rom their lands*
A process which was no ncvelty. Ann the displacement would
have gone on without occasioning any great comment had
diamonds not been discovered. Immediately after this dis-
covery, lunds which before were ofno value, became importent
in the eyes of the depression worried Cape, and measures

/  which

1) de Kiewiet. British Colonial Policy*



which tiad been allowedto lapse were once more discovered*
"What urged the British Government to interfere in this
matter was that up to the discovery of diamonds , the j'ree
State had been content with the Vetberg Line, south of the
»aalt but alter that the two Republics began to move. 4 mock
conference v.as held at a place called "Nooitgedaoht”, from
which u'aterboer departed in diegust ani then the President of

the Free State issued a proclamatio seizing his ground

norti. of thu Vaal. It wasthis movement, and this attempt
to enclose allthe British subjects there that forced the
Government to act. Hadthe Orange Free state been willin to
remain quiet the Government of this Colony would probably not
at that time done what it did." 1).

The second part of the dispute concerned the Transvaal's
cJaim to the lands between the Vaal and Harts Rivers. Their
claim was based upon certain treaties which the Transr aal
maintained they had made wi*h the native chiefs of that part -
notably with one Lahura.

jirnot wanting British protection for his land jobbing,
saw now a greater prise; Southey, an excuse as well as an
incentive and the dispute for the wealth and consequent power
whic lay in the Diamond Fields was hidden behind a screen

of legal qu.jbles, specious reasoning and hypocritical

/utterances

1) Southey in House of Assembly Friday June 7th, 1872.
Cape Argus June 13th 1872.
-ee also uOuthey to Cole - 7:12:1870. 1.B. 8-142.



utterances about the welfare of the native races.

In the following pages an attempt has been made to
give a dispassionate and impartial account of the part
which oouthey played in thia controversy. The annexation
of the Diamond Fields has been variously described as
" the culmination of the gradual growth in the Colonial
Office of the determination to reverse the policy of the
convention** and as an act which "followed quite logically
upon the disallowance of the Transvaal proclamation of
Ib66". This is true, but bouthey by industry, by his
indefatigable work, undoubtedly contributes a great deal
towards that conaum.ation. Hay and BarMly were largely
under aouthey's thumb while outhey often informed himself
from a source whion was as interested as himself -

David Arnot. And the Colonial Office in turn relied en-
tirely on the biased judgment of the Capetown dispatches.
In the correspondence so fully quoted wa will see
o tiiey rather like an arch conspirator, throwing out
hints to Arnot, giving cir Henry iarkly his lesson or
grading on an apathetic population to pasa resolutions

end petitions in favour of British intervention.



The two chief actora in the drama which followed the
discovery of diamonds end was to result in Britain taking
a renewed and more active part in the interior of South
Africa wort Southey and Arnot. 1). Certainly, one of the
que rest combin' tions to be found in a country whose
political history abounds in artificial partnership.

Their close relationship df tea from 1b60. In November
of that year 2) ,rnot had written to uonthey, asking him to
USQ his influence in getting him into the Civil Service.

His wife's health neceseit ted a move nearer the coa; t.

To this Southey replied that he would do all he could,3)

ana from that date - regular correspondence was Kept up
about seeds , land ana the free St te. Soon after, Arnot
conceived the xae of getting British control over the lends

of the Criquas as he felt that the value of the land in

which he w s speculating would thus be considerably enhanced.

1) Richard Southey began his puolic career at the Cape in
1634, by equipping at his own expense the "Albany Mounted
Sharp Shooters" in which he served as a lieutenant at the
beginning of the Kaffir War of that year. .ifter the war
he was appointed as one of the Magistrate# in the terri-
tory between the Kei end Keiskama Rivers as pi.rt of the
1'Urban'a abortive settlement. Upon the reversal of this
acheme he remained out of employment until .lr Harry umith
became Governor. He then became Secretary to tl» High
Commissioner - a post which he held until 1650. In 1648 he
had been President of Wat Tribute Commissions 'cross the
Grtu/e River and from 1650 to 1659 he was resident Magis-
trate of cwellendam with two ,ape - A'henjfcoted as Colonial
oecreUry ir. 1652 ana later us secretary to the lieutenant
vovernor of Gr hams town. He wasthen promoted to the pent
of Auditor General but he held this for a v ry short time
end from 1660 to 1662 once more acted as Colonial secretary
From 1662-4 he wae Treasurer General and in 1664 became
Colonial 6eeretry , which poet he held at the time of the
Diamond Fields Dispute.
Arnot according to Nicholson "Fifty Years in oouth Africa"
(a singularly abusive book) was somewhat coloured - a re-
sult of an affair between Justice Menzles and a coloured
woman. He became legal agent for various tribes , notably
the Griquas and the Satlapin. He wia also uOQOutheyits Agent
at Coleaberg.(land question - Arnot 4 Orpen. 1.113).

2) Arnot to Gouthey 21-11-1660.

3) 2y-11-186fr 0.0. Demi-official 1660-1662.
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We muet new digreae slightly. Adam Kok about the ye%r
1860, began to find, hie Philippolia Reserve decidedly un-
comfortable since the pressure of uropeane waa becoming
greater and greater. 1) He therefore decided to sell hia
|&nda to tte j*ree utate and migrate to Jjomanaltid. With
Harvey, his agent, and hia whole council he journeyed to
hia confidential adviser Arnot, »t Goleeberg. 2) fhe let-
ter gentleman drew up a Power of Attorney in favour of
Henry Harvey, authorising him toact as Agent “nd to sell
"such grounds aa may be found to belong to tin Griqua
Government." The Power waa made in the name of Adam kok.
Chief of the Griquaa of the town and district of philippolia.3

Mow in 1357, Cornelia Kok haa found the task of govern-
ment too onerous ana had made over hia lands (that ia the
Campbell lands) to Adam Kok. It would appear thet Harvey had
no idea of where the Campbell lands were, 4) "but in order

to draw the rree dtfite to a speedy purchase he threw in for

good measure the lands of the late Cornelia Kok". Arnot of
/ course
1) Agar-Hamilton - "The Road to t ie Worth" p. 39.

2) Arnot & Orpen -"land Question", P. 78.

3) G 21. of A. to V. &P. 1871.

4) Cambridge History of British Enpire Volume ft VIiIiJrxyy M



course says otherwise, maintaining that there was collusion
between ir sident Pretoria” and Hr. Harvey. U . iV may,
however, dismiss this in the light of Harvey's later re-
m&rKs.2) . whatever the position is , Adam KoK signed, a

receipt for the purchase price, J) and shortly afterwards

published - at the instigation of Arnmot - a denial of his
ever having sanctioned the sale of the Campbell lands ,4)
as a reply to the Orange Free Stf.te proclamation claiming
Cornells Kok's lands on both sides of the Vaal.5).

Arnot new proceeaed to espouse the cause of Nicholas
Waterboer and claimed for him the CampbelJ lands. He did.
this by iuTOKking ta)The treaty of 1834 between uir Benjamin
ii*Urban a”id Andriee Waterboer 6). (b) The Articles of a
Union between the Sriqua chiefs Andriee Waterboer and Adarn
Kok in 1836 and (¢) a treaty between Andries Waterboer and
liafura in 184*:. This gave him atriangular bit of terri-
tory bounded on the south by the Orange Hiver fromKbeis
to Hamah,and on the e st by a line between Hamah and
Pla tberg on the Vaal, and on ttie north bya line fromthe
northern point if the laageberg to the vili“.e of BoetsapV)
1) fffcia::zwmi Arnot & Orpen - '"laud Question"p. 79.

2) Agar-Hamilton - "Road to the North" F. 39.

3) lindley "Adamantia" r. 90 and ff.
Agf r-Hamilton fixes the final payment on the 20th June
1867.

4) G.21. 1871. P.13 A. to V &P 1671 - 459.

5) %r.orur-Hamilton asks the pertinent question as to wry
the Free %tcte die. not sue Adam Kok who was alive until
1875.

6) This lapsed in 1853 with the ueath of A. aterboer.
ve Kiewiet - British Colonial Policy - p. 83. n.30.

7) "Hoed to the North" p. 40.



Aa early as 1864, President Brand was willing that the
problem should oe solved by Arbitration but refused to al-
low his claim to the south of the Yaal to be diauuaaed.
Arnot, therefore, went to work to erect "a wall of ileah”!)
against the Pree state by founding Albania (1866) which was
on the verge of failure when the great discovery of 1867
changed the whole outlook.

We will leave the Preo ota te for a moment to take a
quick glance at the position of the Transvaal. Here Arnot
claimed a boundary line for the Batlapin (whose agent he
was) from Platberg up the Makwassi opruit to the sources
of tne Harts and the Melopo divers.%). These claims if
successful would Keep the Aoad to the interior open.

The stage was pet.

1) "Ro d to the North* p. 42.

2) £.£.£. p. 81.
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CHAPTES S II.

ih6 correapondence between Southey and Arnot now no
longer dealt with seeds and such like , but took on a more
sinister complexion. On the 24th of January 1868, 1)
Southej, wrote to Amot a letter of fundamental importance.

"I have received your note of the 9th instant, on the
subject of the rumours about relative to an intention on
the part of Per Majesty's Government to resume possession
of tne Oranje Pree state, and expressing your opinion thet
the ohiefe »Vaierfcoer and Lahura would gladly fall in with
a scheme by means of which they would be taken under the
wing of England.

I will put your letter in the hands of H.E. the
Governor - but so far as I know- H. M.'s Govermmnt
have no intention to adopt such s.veeping measures as the
newspapers talk of - something nowever in the way of a move
in the right direction is in contemplation, particulars of
which will doubtless soon appear in the Orange jfree date
papers."

There are two important points about this letter.
In the first place it contains the germ of what was to be
southey's policy in the months to come. ir.aterboer to become
a nritish subject and the uritiah to expand northwards.
A scheme whereby the Republics would bi checked and British
control of the interior ro-er; uablished. In those lean
years, bouthey must more than once h~ve cast covetous eyes
upon the prospect of an increased revenue with its source

in the diamond fields.

/ The

1) L.E. 4 - 300.
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The second point to notice ie the difference in
spirit from a letter written on the 22nd of April 1866. 1).
"it ia a pity that any dispute should have arisen between
the aree .state and Vaterboer about the land between the
lower /anl and Oran,ye Rivera ; but I ao not see how either
this government or the Imperial Government can interfere,
unless both the ?ree 01 te and Waterboer ask: us to
arbitrate. The Home Government or this Government might
say that in its opinion, aterboerls claim is right, but

that would not compel the “ree state to adopt the same

view."

We will see that Southey's doubts as to how to act
w-.re soon resolved, ana that once the course of a tion
was decided upon he was to show a singular tenacity of
purpose and was not to stop before the consummation of his
desires.

Arnot was becoming very impatient and maintained
that it was time the British Government helped Vaterboer
against Brand. He proceeded in a very sarcastic vein to
suggest that Waterboer should take all his medals and
certificates of good character and '"polish up his
trophies and prizes and send them to the British Museum"

for all the goal they did. 2).

In the meantime the "dt r of Africa"had male its ap-

pearance and Arnot wrote about " pniel,in
Waterboer's territory but claimed,disputed and occupied
by Pree st: ie Boers ( fully three mile s beyond their proper
boundary) a crying shame and disgrace."4 And once more he
8DCK6 of Waterboer's willingness to come under British pro-

tection, i.e. the territories on the south and e st sideof

the Vaal.
I But

1) L.B. 3 - 244.
2) Arnot to Southey 1/2/1868.

3) Arnot to ~0Uthey 23-5-1868.



lut Ur: bitich Government was being coy and Amot'e
voice passionately pleading his cause a“ost rose to a
» i, Chief and 1 feel anxious to know how matters
are goin, on between the British Government and the Grange
.ree St,ite - Oh.' how I do wi.h that tie Imperial Government
would put promptly an end to the existence of that wretched
¢ u - Fha. 1 be glad for more reasons than
cue - .1 know tlte Chief will be ready to offer Albania for
certainty with (the) hearty consent of its people and his
(lanu) QOil fie south and east of the Vaal to which he will
B' t:U ' %ctrrily prove his rig!it; and claim, to the jurisdiction
of tl.: Ji-it:: h oveminent on most easy and favourable
conditions." 1),
Lmpul rive as ever, lresident Pretoriue extended tlie
iransv.ial': boundaries to Lake Lfjarr.ii and luruman on the
*test and to Delagoa Bay on the East. 2). a vague dramatic
gesture- which cause Southey to pen o letter to Sir Geor e
barrow, in which he put forth his political ideas. The
Republics, he sai , were absorbing the country of many
r.utivtri -es who were friendly to tne Government. This

process, if allowed to go on, would seriously interfere

"fit!i the Colony'interior trade. "I always foresaw trouble
as the v ult of ,ir -0. Clerk's doings, and to:, y ou
tl o time that it \n i step in the wrong direction." 3).

A sentiment with which Amot was in hearty agreement.

/T retoid us

1) Amot to Couthcy /If/I. 6f.
2) Litaate Courant, :O0th April, 1368.
3) " oad to the horth" T45.
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Ire torius withdrew hie olaim bat tried by negotiating
witn Sahara, of the Batlapin,to gain control of the diggings
between the Veal and Herto Rivera. W htve seen the line
which Arnot was claiming. He was agent for Mahura, who
upon realising that part of his lands were being claimed
by Arnot for Waterboer was justifiably annoyed and appointed

Theodor Dorns as agent, but Dorns was unable to come to any

arrangement with the Republic.

In April jc7C 1) Southey was still not very sure
what action the Home Government or even the Colonial Govern-
ment, would cou. tenance. Arnot wanted to become a sort of
Co mies loner representing the Cape Government at the Fields.
But So-1th >y did not fully understand Arnot's intentions and
in any caea doubted "if H.E. would allow officers of this
Government to become Commissioners unless the Grange /roe
ctute Governmer.* were parties to the thing, and 1 fancy
they will not be - however, it will be time enough to give
an opinion when we /.now what it is intended to do." 2).

This reads strangely when we think of Campbell the Magis-
trate. There was talk at thebeginning of Au ust 1870 of a
conference to be held between the President of the Free state
and v.aterboe r on the subject of the Diamond Fields. Southey
wanted to send a representative of the Colony to this meet-
ing, but "not navln, received any intimation from Waterboer

or the Free State Government that such a meeting was con-

templated, I do not see that we can well move in it." 3).
/' The ..
1) Southey to J. van der Riot. 23rd April 1870 *
1.B. 7 - 136.
2) Ibid.

3) jlwvivi Aouthey to Arnot 8th August 1070.
L.B. 7 - 233.
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xh xn.ge nun.ber ol rjtleh subjects how at the
Digging# gives uwa a certain interest in what ta-ces place
with regard to boundaries and 1 shall be glad to hear,
if there is such a conference what ta“es place. ” la).

Ue meeting took place inidue course t looitged”oht
anu asfar au we are concerned, was remarkable for one thing.
Thhi was a letter written by Arnot to tresident Brand#
Arnot's letters are a magnificent index to his character#
He always addressed Richard outhey in the tone of a rather
obsequious butler, but it was in a different tone that
confident in the support of the Colonial secretary, he
wrote to Brand on Au ust the 24th 1670. 1). "3i.r:- 1 am

authorised by the Chief, Micolas .atertoer, with the advice

and consent of his Raad, to put to you, as representing the
Government of the Orange j?'ree “tate the following substantive
question which you will be pleased to answer distinctly and
pointedly, rho question is this:- In the event of the
present meeting, which proposes to h.ve for its immediate
object the ascertaining of the grounds on which the Chief
Waterboer claims the country (*.orth of the Va; 1 River) as

an integral portion of the territory belonging to the nations
of Griqueja nd ./eat being proceeded with, and brought to a
close (the evidence of the members of the Raad being ad-
mitted), will the Government of the Orange rree btate
promise and u dertake to submit the W ttera and boundaries

in dispute South of that River to the arbitration and final
decision of the successor of Sir P. S. Wodehouse ....and to
proceed wita such arbitration as speedily as the said Gov-
ernor can make it convenient after his arrival to enter upon

the work.
xhe Chief and Council will feel obliged b}f 2.1:1 e rly reply'
1 9

la). Southey to Arnot . !*7-233#
1) Ada. antia P. *%% ]j%**
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It ia worthwhile remarking that Lindley saw clearly the
connection between Southey and Arnot evidenced by this letter.
It is not surprising, however, that nothing came of this meet-
ing.

The Colonial Secretary had been giving the whole matter
very considerable thought. It appeared to him that Arnot had
worked out a very strong case for V/aterboer. But besides this,
he felt, and one cannot escape this fact, he felt with great
conviction that the Free State had a case which rested on very
shaky foundations.

Probably the fullest statement on the position, giving his

own private views on the question is to befound in the following

letter, which because of its importance will be quoted at very

great length. 1).

"It seems to me that in your letter to the Orange Free State
Government (copy of which you forwarde: o Sir P. V/odehouse) you
have made out a very strong case for V/aterboer; and if the Free

State has no other claim than that arising from the alleged pur-

chase of Cornelius Kok’s possessions from Harvey 2) as Adam Kok's
agent they would have a weak one. As regards the sovereignty of
H. Majesty declared by Sir Harry Smith and afterwards withdrawn,
that cannot affect V/aterboer as he was not included by Sir Harry

Smith, nor In any way a party to either transaction 3)
W.terboor is too weak to enforce his rights against that State

(Free state) and the chances are that, if a rupture had occurred

before the advent of the digger, his (Waterboer's) !
T™M BEEM ;.
9°5°

2) Supra p. 8.
3) Memorandum. Wilmot*appendLx. J

*Ex o jlJKXa "Life and Times of Southey"



have been before this absorbed by the State (Free State) or
perhaps divided between it and the Transvaal. Now, if diamonds
continue to bo found in large quantities, there will be a large
in.lux O ULL nations of peoples whowxil probably pay little
respect to the rights of Natives whoare not strong enough to
enforce their own rights. Already the diggers are talking of
forming an independent Republic, andare encouraged apparently
by both the Free State and Transvaal Gov' rnmonts.

Under all these circumstances would it not be better for
Waterboer and his people to reek to be received as British Sub-
jects, 1) as has been done in the case of the Basutos. I do not
know that H. M. Government would accede to such an application,
but possibly they would. If that were done, then the boundaries
of his country could not be invaded, but his own sovereign rights
would cease.e?(The idea was that he should continue as being Chief
Magistrate . Southey promises to give his best attention to the
matter if and when he receives Uaterboer's petition to the Queen).

Southey then proceeds to ask for 1 *ation on the follow-
ing points

(1) Were the diggers, as a bod. , ‘rous of British
Supremacy, and would they co-operate with a move-
ment to bring about such a state oi a:fairs.

(2) Was all the information given by Arnot respect-
ing, the boundary claimed by Waterboer from David s
Graf to Platberg in the treaty between Waterboer
and Kok? The latter*a boundaries are described as
?rora Hamah to Davit's Graf. West, South up the

Land Question: p. 113"



t3)

(/-) S eRIFML tiie Missionary at Fniel first establish-

<atarboer. were there ang written
documents.1 i)

-1A ’.e,.kef part of Waterboer*s case appears to Lie
v0 oe ' le<;'j’! to the line fro: David's Graf to Flatberg.
I ujuleii. t Jrom you, that rluring 'ajor Warden's time, he
issued cert -1catee for farms between that line and the
V:al .iver, raid that, since our withdrawal from the cou: :ry,
the Vee btate her granted land or if'ue 1 certificate:, ’as
it Tortl or boutli o:° the .let iver. Also, as regards the
Arants of the free State, have they granted on both sides
of the diet liver? ow is the country between the Vaal
and the lines claimed by haterboer now occupied?" Among
other things he wanted tomow if there were any of

m toro rls people there,andif so were they there before

bir Harry bniith proclaimed the Sovereignty, and did they A
ren.ain tliere afterward. . e wanted all the information
Axmot cou] . possibly giv» . : ,ior Warden had assumed

the country along the Vaal River, both above and below
Platbeiv ~to have been at the tirue available for disposal by
the Hi Jh Commissioner or the boverdgnty Government, as he
BUi Lerted that a tract of land ten miles above and ten
miles below Flatberg along the River should be allowed

to contain natives -ho h d di: posed o’ their land to Boers,
Southey, therefore, wanted to knov if these native. ere
Waterboere& people, and what lands they had disposed of.

/ here

free State beat us'.

-  Arwnt+ 6th June, 12fS. L. . b -5..



There wes going to be an executive Council meeting to con-
aider what should be done now that Waterboer had publicly notified

his inability, under the altered circumstances to keep order "and

the Kree State does not apparently assume any right of Jurisdic-
tion within the country over which the diggings have spread
thoraaoives. The result of this meeting may be the issue of a
proclamation setting forth the state of the case, and the (ap-
pointment? ) of two or more magistrates under the Imperial Act

26 and ~7 /ictoria 1) giving them jurisdiction over British
subjects within certain Limits uO be described in their commis-
slciis" « (He yromise.- to send Waterboer all the relevant docu-
ments and information, "as it will be necessary to include a
large share of his uninhabited territory within the limits of the
jurisdiction to be granted". He hastens to assure Waterboer -
through Arnot - that their jurisdiction will be limited to British
subjects and a source of strength to Waterboer. - It certainly

was to Arnot

And the limits of their jurisdiction was to be a line running
from Platberg to Hamah via David's Oraf, down the Grange River to
ijunction with the Vaal, across the weal in?’;ﬁtraight line to
Griqua Town, thence by a straight line in a Northerly direction

to the southern boundary of the Transvaal and along the boundary

to the Vaal River and down the River to opposite Platberg.

(aoroda surely).

The diggers he had heard were entering Into treaties with the
natives living near the Harts Mver (I.e. where it Joins with the
Vaal). lie was afraid that Waterboer might be stripped of all

authority so that "something must be done sharp".
He now turns his attention to the Transvaal's claims, end

) information about her boundaries especially with
desires further
( recerd

1) Punishment R"T.



regard to the proclamation extending her territory to the
Limpopo, thence to Lake Ngaml and on the West to Langeburg.
Southed also wanted to know more about the "old donument" In
which the right bank of the Vnal was ceded to Pretorius* father#

And finally 'Let me know as soon as you can what the feel-
Ingr. o. the diggers are as to our coming In among them."

A consideration of the letter as a whole must Inevitably
lead one to certain conclusions. In the first place, it is
obvious that Southey has already taken sides. The whole tone
of the letter points to extreme partisanship. But, two
aspects should be definitely stressed. Firstly, Southey has

5He M
already made up his mind that the Free State can and slwuld be
outwitted, before h “ing heard their case, and secondly, he is
relying to ; large measure on the information which Amot was
to give him. Amot, as we have every reason to believe was not
averse to anm occasional twisting of a fact, and, os those letters,
which we have already had occasion to quote, :bnw him to be”a
bitter and personal opponent of the Republics, and also chief
holderina concession to dig for diamonds (Nov....0.1870). i)

Southey, however, raises several points in the letter which

are worth soae attention. He nentlonn the sale of the Campbell

lands as constituting a weak claim. But there are certain facts

/ conneoted 1i..

1) Griqlaland Land Court.



ooniieoted with it which should he remembered. It will be remember-
ed that when Cornelia Kok retired in 1857, he made over the
Campbell lands to Adam Kok who then began to govern them, in

1861 Adam Kok met Waterboer at Vetberg w. th the object of ex-
changing the Campbell lands for Albania, i'he territory proved
barren so Adam nok, refusing to exchange any ”“art of the Campbell
lands for it, ordered title deeds to be issued to oil the late
Cornells Kok’e people, giving thorn full right to sell and dispose
of their lands. And .'aterboer at that time made no protest. 1)
At the time of the sale - lindley maintains directly after -

Adam Kok began to give certain parts of the Campbell lands to
iVaterboe r - who on the let September 1863 put forward his first
claim to the lands on the South bank of the Yaal. This was de-
finitely instigated by Arnot. 2) In short, there was hardly one
satisfy ispec. to the sale, with the exception of the satis-
faction .A Adam Kok must have felt when he signed the receipt
for the purohas* yrice.

The poeltloc <« i rda tne sowerelgnty has teen dealt with
by both te Kleriet mu. Hr. A ar-Hamllton. But attention muet be
drawn to the passage In the letter under review - “If a rupture
had occurred before the advent of the diggers, etc." i'h.t is
the whole point. Before the discovery of diamonds, Britain and
the colonial Government were frankly not interested in the Griquas.
Sir George lad openly encouraged the alienation of Grlqua terri-
tory, and even the Importunities of Uavid Arnot could not wring
more from Southey than a doubting promise to do nicest. 'The dis-

covery of diamonds, however, changed the complexion of the contro-

/ versy. .«»

1) Ademantia p. WO

2) A&I 1871. t. 21.
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versay* Had dlauond, not been dlecovered, n 1Is more than Ulcely
that t..e impact of the Republics upon the Orlquas avuld have
run the ordinary course of all such Impacts - the alienation of
their la,.ds and their coneequent reduction to a state cf servants
a state of al fairs ,*i.ich has always come about wherever a white
civilisation has come Into contact with a more backward civilisa-
tion. But now, the question of slavery loomed upon the horizon,
and the Colon’al office was worried about the rights of natives.

Oxto would feel more reapect for these philanthropic out-

pourings, such magnificent seihtV.ents on paper, were they ever

really put Into practice.



APTSR in

9

After t.n6 failure of the meeting at ITooltgedacht to settle
anythL-6 Brand proclaimed Free State sovereignty over the Campbell

lands and sent (Oe¢Je Truter as Free State representative to Pftlel *
This action was Immediately Interpreted at the Colonial office aa

0

an attempt to '"aggrandize the republics at the expense of tne

surrounding native tribes

It will be remembered that on the 12th September 1)

Southey wrote to Arnot "under all these circumstances would It

not be better for Waterboer and his people to seek to be received

as British Subjects ?

---------------

That reads strangely with the following reference to Brand's

procla ation. 2). "ihe High commissioner will to-day address a

letter 3) to Mr. Brai- asking him for evidence of his rights, on

the grounds that .yaterboer Is in communication with us no request-

ing Her Majesty to take him and his country over. ( 1 will send

you a copy of the letter for private Information). You will read- «

ily understand that so long as waterboer remains a separate and

/ Independent .e-°

1) Swupra P.I?*
2) To Arnot 15

from Mr. H- *rvey”and of*h UUe t0 such
Adam Kdk, as

Js-
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independent Government we cannot interfere between him an

Oranae e b',.;U ... I am therefore etrongly of the opinion

and his country at Sritish."

It oul ay, ;r taen, that /aterboer was not as desirous
of I r i t (*51- cn; nip as has .d-:ays been believed, and that
Arno4 'a n0 P islicing the deli ht 'ul i-ensation of the '" rooer
being wooed. And a stickler for the truth miJit conceivably
find that t e nigh Counir sioner *s letter containe. a manifest
untruth.

With regard to the petitions for annexation which the text
oooks tall u ca e pouria® in - /2 mfollowing is illuminating. 2)
Southey writes that it would be desirable for the diggers to
express a desire for jurisdiction to be exercised by Britain and
"if you can influence a move in that ,irection, ou had better do
so, an1 let ther be no delay about it." ... "It seems to me
that there is an arr n.- ment between Iranland Pretorius tiiat tie
one shall t ike th Gr.p ell lands and the other all above them;
and I expect soon to see Pretoriusl Procla ation taking po wer, ion
of all lan i between the V:al and darts ivers." e, t.ere, ire,
suggest: that Amot should use his influence in order to get uv

petition: from the "i depeneuv ativer lying about the

Sc kin war Southey on there petitions '/hich vouli appear
to be ipontaneouB .uuHfestations of public opinion in favour of
arltlsh rule, that he wrote to stay 'lutton a v = , co.m .-.fJ ..t
type of letter, 4) in which he assures the recipient that neither

the Free State nor SYaiovaal could produce very strong cVai.cs (he

still had not seen them), thile the M tiSh had all clone fitted

[h 1S ceeeeene
1). Th excuse to interfere v, s, therefore, manufacture ! b,
uouthey.
E). Southey to Amot, 15th September, V VC. 1. . - .

t Southey to Henry wutton, 1-th September, 120. L. .-38§
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hi. rights to those lands where diamonds had now been found.

He suggests that the Diggers should ask the British Oovernn.ent

to step in "If you cun further this idea, we might do somethin;:

that would answer the purpose until we could got a decision from

home* "If the dlamend diggers either by a general petition or

through their committee were to ask the British to step in they

might possibly manage under an Imperial Act of Parliament.

The
Free State he wrote did not pretend to exercise jurisdiction

over the dleei“S». Waterboor aald he could not, the Transvaal

..ever had. exercised any jurisdiction. Alter speaking about

°the alleged recent discovery- of a document transferring

certain lands betseen the Vaal and Harts rivers ,, ends up "If

ul6é Free State (Stales?) prefer this Ooverrment to that of the

Free State or Transvaal or Waterboor. they had better say so

at once and ask us to step In.- Nothing short of annexation

would satisfy Southey no». 1)

think port Elizabeth might sell take the lead Im such a

matter and you and Slain, and Christian might easily arrange

In the other districts.-

Southey had grea AA nlm and his

fancy. »1U shortly petition the Induce the Home

w ¢ It. Will be U0 A
country over; bu -

therefore, the people o.
¢ tn do SO. *

Authorities to cons.n A Diamond Field, md the
this Colony are desirous o A might be sell to take
rest of Waterboer's count A

a move. g). And on

some public action lu the supper / _the *~ _

" ,nSept.1870.L.B. 8- « -

1) To Hon. !» Fleming AN8. B

2) 1O ,on. W. rl*hg. *



th. same day he turned to Amot to exhort him more action.
Am ot must get Waterboer to petition the Queen to receive him
as a British Subject - and the same applied to all the chiefs
etc., living around Waterboer's country and theTransvaal.
(Qovt. proclamations were already In print.) The British Gov-
ernment and people would, he knew be definitely against It but
"In my opinion It is the only chance Waterboer has of preventing
himself and people from being either absorbed and made serfs or
driven away." While still hammering away at the fact that the
Diggers should pass resolutions, he once again remarks '"No time
should be lost In sending up Waterboer's petition, if he intends
to do It; and all else that is done should be done quickly." 1)
The variety of his Interests In the Diamond Fields Istruly
amazing. In the same months the above-quoted correspondence ,
i.e. September, he attended meetings a? . wrote letters to various
people to Institute suitable communications and news of transport
from Pon. Elizabeth to the Diamond Fields. "A Railway would be

the right thing of course ....2). By December he had accepted

a tender for malls, etc. 3).

The Diggers, however, did not seem to appreciate Southey's
kind solicitude after their welfare and we find him assuring a
nr. BowK.r of Klngffllllaci'B Town 4) that the Oovommer.t was not
Interfering in the Diamond Fields to Injure the Diggers but to
protect them. The real reason was of course, his fear that the
Republics had found in the diamond fields a weapon of terrific
efficacy; a weapon by which they could place an economic strangle-

hold on the British expansion to the rorth. He then aw a
/ positive

tT~ To Arnot 2& SsptTT 1670. L-B* ~ " 2

8) ToH. Bolss 24th Sept., 1870. L-B. s- 5.396 alsoL.B.7-3Ce6.

3) ToCampbell 29-12-70. L»B* 8-172.

4) 28 Sept., 1870. L»Be 8-13.



pcltiv. goo, m British possessions of toe oU roDd Flelds at .

U”* °f faUl,e reTenUe and ri1s1“6 expendlturs; he ea, an op-

portunity for Britain to reverse the policy of Sir George Clerk
shlch ned been anath.m to hi,,. On the negative side he saw that

cannot allow those two states to seize and divide the country
between them, and thereafter dictate their own term, to -Foreigners"
as our own people will be called, besides closing up the route to
the Interior." 1).

The following paragraph la Important. ".Vaterboer offers to make
over to H. M 's Government, all his rights to the present known
Diamond Fields. But as his right there Is in dispute with the
Free State we should by accepting the offer, only tatce over the
dispute* Mow, I fancy, he will petition Her Majesty to take his
country”and people, as we have done In the case of the Basutos;
and Ifacceded to, the question of boundaries can be settled
fairly by arbitration or otherwise. 2)e¢ This letter sounds rather
Ironic when we remember how he was pushing Waterbot; r forward and
that his Idea of a fair arbitration or otherwise consisted In
Britain being her own judge® It is justifiable to assume that had
Southey been sincere In his desire for the protection of 77aterboer'St
"rights" that he would not have stipulated the handing over of
Waterboer's territory as a condition to his taking sides*

Tflth the example of Basutoland fresh in their memories,

Southey realised that tne Imperial Government would not be over-
keen. m his own words "but if they fancy that the people of this
colony will do as with Basutoland, try to make it an Imperial

measure and say it is no child of theirs, they on th+Ilr part may

"msAWsis

2) Also 1st oet. 1870 L-3. 8-26.

/ say **




say d9n'* wa,it U Jlih(ee Q

Ingay "we don'd want it

rIl(iluua' oouiitry la the key to the

«The Grigqua cand the large trade we

caxnt.orior. Once allow that to be closed

carry on might be lost to ug.n 1). draft petition for

formed before Sarkly'e arrival. 8) m other words, that gentleman
opon his arrival In South Africa would be presented with a state-
i&ent of the controversy as seen through AmoVs eyes.

By October of 1870 the Cape was exporting diamonds at the
rate of £25,000 per month. There were, according to Southey over
5000 p ople at the Diggings, and more were going fron all parts of
tne country, leaving farms and other occupations, a report had It
"that a large number of American Irish are coming, and Intend to
establish a Fenian Republic (Southey underlined in his agitation)
at the Fields* I sincerely trust that we shall escape such a mis-
fortune." 3).

iir. Brand was now talking about being able to produce corres-
pondence between Waterboer, Adam KoK and Cornells Kok to show that
Cornell. Kok ... Independent, and Southey was anxious to know if

that ware po.aible, and if there «a any record at orlquatcwn to

prove the reverse, I.e: Waterboer was superior In authority. 4).

/ Kok. ' iz
1) To Barry. 30th Sept. 1870* L*B»
To Amot 3rd Oct. 1870%

3) To Julyan 3. Oct. 1870%*

4) Southey to Grant. 24th Oct



Kok, Chief of arlquaa, Campbell Town.

"Sir, - | have the honour, by direction of the H.
. C. to

acknowledge the receipt of your memorial praying to be recognised
a8 a Native Chief, in connection with the Colony; and to acquaint
you that Excellency has been pleased to accede to your prayer.,
and has given directions to Major Warden to have the bour dary of
your territory properly defined by a Land Commission which will
aoon enter upon its duties.

I have the honour to be, sir,

"Your most obedient, humble servant

Richard Southey."

It la not much use as evidence, but is on a par with much that
Southey and Arnot produced.

The Colonial Secretary was at the beglnnlngof October really
annoyed with Grahamstown. "I do not see the people of Grahamstown
talcing any notice of the Diamond Field's movement. The Free State
and Transvaal will do all they can to keep what they have seized
and unless this Colony urges the Home Authorities to annex waat
an.rbo.r a.,d other Natives are *1111.,g to let ua have. It Is not

improbable that they may hesitate to extend our limits, orlqualend

haps you may be willing * annex si.-e ’
) . efficient master of his
diamonds." 1) Southey was certainly a>,

team.

1) Southey to MlInto. 8th Oct. 1870* L*B»



in 1*56, irenldent Hoffc,an and tha ,aad aaked Adam Kok to
m .nd daolare a Ifn. between hlmeelf and '.Vaterboe, and Cornelia
lok, Ida., ok sent in a vreport, whloh Boaboff sent to sir George
sr9y 10th June 1656. 1). Southey gave this report much study,
,$ the marginal notoe on the copy and the following letter both

shew, in thin letter Southey gives hia full views on another

aspect of the jree ..tt-te'a case.

"Adam ho*, in the report which Boahoff caused to be published
says no thing about a line between himself and the other two, but
tha>, by request of the free Jtate, and with concurrence of
Waterboer and C. ok and Jan Bloam, he fixes and declares a line
between Waterboer and Cornelia Koki

ihe two thinga are very differ.nt. Hoffman's request was
tantamount to requesting Adam Kok to deelmre hn: own boundaries
when they adjoined 7aterboer and Cornells Kok which Adam Kok
might legiti ately do, i.e. Ipy down what he considered his own
boundaries ; but he reported that he had done quite a different
thing, and the Free bti te published the report, and to my mind
annulled, as far as it concerned them, what Adam Kok had done,
for they at once assume* that Ham ok had defined a boundary
between aterboer and the free at W not between 'laterboer and
Cornelia Kok; and on paper, seised all the land north of the

Vetberg line, ,i lob aooording to Adam ..ok was Cornelia Kok'a.

not Free utnte property: and it wne even at fed

.0ld by either ,aterb=er cr Cornelia Kok but be preserved for

6 common passag-e,
I The aaa

U Southey to Amot. 2H Oct. IB ,0Uthey's remarks in .etter
Also a copy of the r .port with

received by ."outney lo /Ue



TUa Brae Stut. eUi, th. Vetberg Uu. by virtue or .hut
Adam K°k dld; bU" Ad‘ U KOIt 41d defir,. . bom.aary between
Orlquaa m.d Free State, but bet,... mterboer end comeHe KoBc
according to Adam Kok then.and admitted by th. Free state
to. l«.d South of the Vetberg line wae Waterboer'e and North of
it comella Kok-a; it la worthy of not. that the Vetberg line
eastward terminated at a beacon of Adam Kok *s ; and you mark
that beacon at> just outeida of the line drawn from Ra-.-ah to
David’s Grave.

I have always been puzzled to know how the Free State,
according to their own notions acquired the territory North

h'¢eTBUV,
of the Vwdcenr line. Clearly, when Adam Kok professed to fix
the Vetberg line as separating the territories of Waterboer
and C» Kok, the Grlquas of Grlqualand '.Vest according to Adam
Kok's views, possessed lands east of the Vaal River and forth
of the Vetberg line. Adam Kok professed to consider that land
Cornells Kok’s not Waterboer's. Admit that and what then?
Cornells Kok was not a Free State subject and never afterwards
beoaue one. Nor does the Free State allege, as far as I can see.
that it ever purchased the land from Cornells Kok. Adam Kok
does not define the limits of C. Kok's lands North of the
Vetberg line; end In absence of proof to the contrary, we are
I think justified in considering that he at least considered
the lands West of the line from Hamah via David's jraf t
Platberg to belong to the Orlqu.s and that, therefore, he

defined ¢ Kok's boundaries to be on the Seat from the Ka.tsrn

/tO eee°



M P— erg; and all he a0,e In tha v.,barg Un# A

to run a line from the Vaal River to a certain point on the

R,ah and Platberg Una to divide Western orlqualand East of
th. vaal River Into t.o portions. Nothing ,,aa don. by him
,hen he defined the Vetberg line, which In any way affected

the Free State. If Adam Kok had done what Hoffman contemplated
vlk, defined a boundary between himself and the orlquaa of
West orlqualand, and by such a line had taken for himself any
portion or aji <f th« ia.nd, wLIch for the reasons I h”ve
stated above, I thltu* he Intended to assign to C. Kok, the
Free State might have had some grounds for considering .
that lands ao taken by Adam Kok belonged to it, because, being
outside the Inalienable limits it would according to Sir h»
Sr;1thi1a reading of his treaty with Adam Kok, have belonged to

the Sovereignty and from it % have passed to the Free State*®

I think this is what Hoffman meant to have got done; but
he had been superseded by Boahoff, a comparative stranger to
the country and it* politics and antecedents, and Hoffman's
object was not accomplished*

During the existence of the Sovereignty there woe a great
deal of correspondence between Adam Kok and the High commissioner
about lands , boundaries and the correct Interpretation of the
agreement between Kok and Sir H. Smith. Kok held that all he
did* that agreement was to give up his claim to a share of
qultrent as guaranteed to him by Sir P. Kaltland In considera-
tion of an annual payment of * 00; end that all th. undisposed
Of land, in th. alienable territory still belonged to him a .d

might oe disposed , as he thought fit; and that alienable land



of him and hi. f.opl, to lands 1, the Alienable Territory,

4U of which became vested In the Queen in h - Sovereignty
possessions; and. unless my memory la defective Sir Harry
(Smith) did not recognise A. Kok to have at any time possessed
lands North of the Modder River* Unfortunately the letter
Book of the High Commissioner for the period is missing, or

I would, I ai. sure, bo able to find much correspondence about
it.

S r He Smi th's interpretation of the Agreement was, what
he Intended It to be at the time it was entered into; not,
perhaps, exactly what a stranger would say of It with only
the document itself to guide him.

If, under all thess circumstances, the Free State could
have Induced Adam Kok to strike out n bold line, say the
Vetberg lire, between himself and Waterboer, and to nave ..eld
his tongue about Cornells Kok, the Free State might have said
"North ¢l the Vetberg line, and East of the Vaal River Is ours,
it haviig passed from Kok to the Sovereignty and then to the
Fr«s SUV,!" "as, however, that was not done. It bcee-e heed-
ful for the Free State to show how It acquired the land which
Ada,,, Kok: assigned to Cornells Kck; and, as it took possession
before the transaction with Harvey In 1861. that transaction
cannot be held to have conveyed it. VP " U"eé6'
.11 the p,,of adduced by "he Free State in support of Its
claim to the land. East of the Vaal Hlver are first. That

Sir Harry Smith proclaimed H- M's Sovereignty ove, all -

» F. S. "Road to the h-orth". p. 90.
1) 29 according to the



That the Frees,,Government, ha= by
resoiutions e,a publ,e nntj.ee la,a claim to the land, and
Fourth. That it has appropriated It, an. It Is now

occupied by Free State farmers.

As regards Sir H. Smith's Proclamation, it expressly
stated that it was only sovereignty that was to be assumed,
and all arsons ».re guaranteed In their property; but.

from that. h. M, uld not confer her rights of sovereign-
ty on the Free state. The Sovereignty extended over Adam
hok, ant. others, all of whom, when her Sovereignty
way witherawn became independent chiefs, andnot subject to
the Free utate. If therefore, our Sovereignty extended
over V/aterboer's territory Fast of the Vaal (which I do not
think it did) that ceased when we withdrew, end V/aterboer's
rights were as they had been .< .ire the sovereignty was

proclaimed.

fnd 'ehe othei three proof*(?) are of course no proofs

at all of lawfully acquired rights.

It is not much to be wondered at thet, under such cir-
OInstancis, the Free State objected to the submit (sub-
mission?) to arbitration, questions involving rights to the
lends Ik at of the VoaJ River; but, as migjit is right when
a strong government determines to make it so over a weak
Government, Waterboer will never be able to maintain bis

claim or indeed to hold his own South of the Vetberg line,

and the newly fermed southern boundary of the Campbell

j Irimle
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The °nly Chance fOr ana the natives generally

to oe able tc keep pesnesslon of their lanhs .111 he hy
H. Majesty taking the, over. The Boer States .hen they
tav Native territory, take the land as property, and
not the people, except as servants - they must go elsewhere.
'""! r h(u'd, uphold the AfiaX/c/tfs’' rigllta of

property, and only govern and tax them to pay the expenses
of Government." 1).

The slipshod fashion in which the Free State dealt
with the Grlquas is really amazing. The sale of Griqua
Inn is by arvey in 1857 is one example. The report of Adam
Kok jusu discussed, is another. It must be admitted that
the copy of the report in the Southey papers shows evidence
of the mo t painstaking study, taoocxxxxjcy, while Doshoff was
addressing a letter to Andries Y/aterboer after that gentle-
man had lain with his forefathers for three years! The
Vetberg line wa~ definitely and cleverly stated to be a line
dividing Cornells Kok and Waterboer, and would tend rather
to prove that there was an independent brioua State to the
North of the line than otherwise. Southey* 3 views as to the
claim baaed on the Sovereignty proclamation of Sir Harry
smith are substantially correct, and Major Warden committed
many a blunder. Southey to Atherstone 18.12.1870.L.B.6-150:
"Warden blundered In giving certificates for land within
W aterboer'. boundaries, of which he toe. nothing, and believ-
ed Boer's'accounts that the lands were unoccupied. But as
Mr Agar-Hsmllton points out, "The truth is that both parties
.ere trying to Impose®ropean theories which did not apply."
But in this particular case, the truth does not help us out

of the impasse. Finally would it not be correct to read the

last paragraph of the letter - rorerrint to
coming eee
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letter, L,rl tm, reyt was to show Waterboer that he had

better make up his mind quickly?

The Free State as a matter or fact hah no evidence to

sho« that the Vetherg line was a line of theirs. It will

be

be

C.

remembered 1500 yards on each side of that line were to
preserved as free passage which neither Waterboor nor

Kok coula alienate. Southey says 1) that '"Mere at that

time the Griquas of Western Griqualand possessed land North

ol

the Vetberg line. Adam Kok assigned that land to

Cornells Kok, and, if it be admitted for argumentia sake

that Waterboer was a party to that transaction, no land was

given by it to the Free State, which however, appropriated

it

to

he

He

prior to the solo by Harvey” Southey was also trying
find out whether Cornells Kok had left a son, because if
did, ”"no brother or nephew could succeed him as chief.”2)

was trying to prove that Adam Kok was not independent of

W aterboer.

In connection with Waterboer’s superiority of chief-

tanahip the following correspondence is of considerable

Interest. The first extract Is from a letter written by

Southey to Arnot. Ho had received some printed copies of

the minutes of the Ncoltgedacht conference from Brand.

1)
2)

I Among «>»

. ¢. Grant 1-11-1870. L.B. 8-86.
Southey to D

Ibid.



MOHS thorn, ho observed -e letter signed "N. ,,Hter Boer Capt -

situated In the Divlson of Campbell, ™hloh Oreef wanted; and
Waterboer says he Is unable to give a satisfactory answer
because the farm does not belong to his territory, and is
without the limits of his territorial jurisdiction. Do you
know anything about that latter?" 1).

Again "I had already drawn Mr. Arnot’s attention to
that letter ns being calculated to throw doubt on the
validity of VYtvberboerea claims." 2).

But Campbell apparently thought otherwise. I believe
this document to be genuine, and two more signed precisely
in the same way, have been produced, and on my exhibiting
them to Mr. Arnot, he changed colour, and said the body of
these letters certainly ap e red like Waterboer*s, but
before he became Waterboer*3 agent he was not acquainted
with his signature ... Arnot said Waterboer authorized
him to deny the signature. I don't like the aspect of this
transaction, and I have discovered him tripping on several
occasions. H,*evor, as the decree will not rest upon the
validity of this document, I will make no further remark." 3)
This letter has an increased importance when we consider

its source. Southey replied to this rather lamely.

of the assertion that the document signed Water Doer was a

/ forgery. .,

estsr-'w .



-°nciusions about it. I

>tne si“uatui'e if it -'ere

ev willing to believe

contrary evidence.)

to wr ¢t all

1-

e State arguments about the lands on

the left oank of the 7 and within th< Vetoes line,

the con. t of r.i:

"There

Corr.eli. »okl11z

evidence she

would O wu: -\il.
'not v,.

to et out of all

"It vroul be

‘ov/i.rds

in,

s re;

th.

1" hi. d.

seerri * to be no lack of negative evidence against

epon e. ct of .diter >oer; but a little

t' at Con 1lit lok w ’ed as a subordf

:;, v: hile 'oiu;i:< about, vhat he was gc

thin. And Southey informed hir that

atur- no.- to -ay anythin, about yo': rrilt

e» of 1870, the yvotownt of a ""Ustm t.,



Southey ahvUe, Arnot that Mr. Campb.ll wouM he leaving
in a day or two. He also thought It desirable for Water-
boer to confer upon him (Campbell, when he arrived, powers
to adjudicate in all cases and over any persons within
Vaterboer'e territories. The British Commission would only
i: ' rltlsh subjects. '"Mr. Brand is doing all he can
to prevent our appointing Magistrates under the Imperial
Act tiiiu 0. course prevent Her Majesty from acceding to
Vfaterboer ’a desires. Ve ought therefore to act quicKLy;
and the sooner I get V/uterboer’s petition the better. 3).
This appointment has net with criticism. In the first
place Lindley 2) maintains that the thousands of British
dig ers were in the Free State under Truter and not in
Griqualand and tnat therefore the appointment of Campbell
was not really in accordance with the Punishment Act which
ap .liud to territories over which there was no civilised
government. There was a civilised government - of sorts -
under Truter. Cut Southey’s mouthpiece -*» Acting Ocvcernor
Hay prejudged the question and by appointing Campbell
committed himself to the support of Waterboer against the
Free State by the use of an Act which was generally regard-
ed as obsolete. Also, the Campbell lands had still to be

proved to be native territory. As Sir Henry BarKly himself
/ wrote ...

Adamantlae

kxxxr ceo *



wrote, 'It appeared to me, that the British Government had

gone too far to admit of its ceasing to support the cause

of either laterboer or the diggers and it was quite clear

that any apparent faltering on our part would only encourage
the Free State and Transvaal in upholding their claims." 1).

Southey gave Campbell some advlco as to how to conduct

hi m3 6 ;hi ticulftrly requested hint to refrain from

clashaD'*? with the 1ree State as Arnot did 2) and suggested

that hr keep in with the Diggers’ Council - he could appoint

the i as spoclal constables if he so wanted. '"You migiit in
nany cases probably act as a sort of arbitrator even in

cases of a criminal character which in this Colony would

involve imprisonment and let the cases be settled by a fine'"3)

(Does not, of course apply to murder and robbery with violence

The Free State was naturally annoyed at the turn natters

had taken. Southey thought they *ade a mistake in seizing

all the country by Proclamation. 1- " ¢ LiU sub.Atu.d
dispute to arbitration, and abided the result, we should not
have had to move at present. '4) The Colonial Secretary's

naivette has a peculiar mar;..

Aentennnt’s behaviour.

My dear Sir* > t0 gee that y - A hehalf *



behalf of Waterboe, eueh a threatening latter to the

President of the Orange Free State as you did In the eaae

of Nicholson, and that you had made such use of the High

Comnis:;ionor'a notices and correspondence In auch a matter.
The 1i’;n >oramisaionor'3s Notice was issued for the

inforiitntion o1 iiritieh Subjects, and to warn them against

being pa't ol -o unlawful Acts for depriving the aborigines

of their possessions. And the correspondence with the

President of the Orange Free State stated that Uaterboer’s

case ppeared to be a good one, and the grounds on which

the Free State rested not sound; but His Excellency has

carefully abstained from any interference except with

J'P
British subjects and w ill not® more until the decision of
He* M ajesty's

Government on W aterboer’s petition is kno:m.

If in the meantime hostilities are got up between the Free

state and the (Irlquas the latter would bee to fight their

own battles and their case which seems now to be a good one

mi*ht be seriously injured.

It was injudicious I thin,, to write to Nicholson as you

did, and also unnecessary: if he had done anything con-

trary to law, he should have been proceeded against in the

law courts, and not have .... written to by the Chiefs

= E = E =

like to see nothing m ' A to a conquest of

Oriquos and their '~ " """ " A A A decision is received,

the territory befo.e - aatlon on the part of

I would therefore *>->ym» ,,>r A

Fr#e state without

W aterboer. Any aimed arrression A ofworyolie, but if
cause would damage their case n

a -vf for *
the Griquas giv- /

0Oiey will have

sympathies
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in Hovember 1070 Prstorlue had a meeting with the
cra”. ing the territory between the Harta atd Vaal
Rivera. “heodcre JOirte, the Earalong representative ,
claimed lands ha* included tVe whole diamondiferoua area
claimed by t..e iranavaal, on the grounds that potgiete?
the VoortrekKer leader, had guaranteed those lands to the
fa the: of Monteioa , chief of the baralong. Ludorf, how-
ever , a mieulonary xxxxxxxx”“pcxxxxxxxxxxxkxx wno had been
wording with the Earalong at Thaba llchu, produced a document
- later proved a forgery - w:ich showed that Xontsloa had
no rights to land eaet of the -arts River. Pretorious
decided on ar> *tr tiomn. 1).
£:¢. rt 1 which Southey played in tin settlement or. the
.ransva#:. xaina was considerably sue Her than the role
which he had played and continued to P"ay in respect of toe
?re State. We get a good insight into his v.ewe m a
letter to Car.pbell 2).
-As reg rds the settlement of boundaries with the
A. I ar.«.r..M« the setter th. Zrensrael's
ci.in. rests a.on the .greesent 3) entered into by . oertsin
Con sndant and other. ...*itb a Knt.ve chief naned yont.ios,
by Which they say the country between the Harts ard Vaal
Hirer was ceded by the Chief to then. I am not e-re of

any other eonndanon for their ciaims. All else that they

3 1 «-u 16711,B' 6'3C4"
3) In 1851.



»e88% UpoOn appeaxr to be their ow subseqgue |
i WO subsequen troclamations

re,t apoL appear to be their own enbeed4uent Procianationa
etc. , which f-o for nothing; in such matters.

According to my reading of that document (agreement
between Boers and Montsioa) there ia no cession at all in
it, except it ...ay be eld to cede the superior fountains

and pasture % away from which the natives had been squeezed

Vij thenoeru. eececece

I 11ni that many years a”“o, when Emigrant rmers from
this Colony came in contact with Moselikatte high up the
Vanl diver they were driven back by him to the neighbour-
hood of Thabo, 1Kchu, where the chief portion of the

Barolong trice (whicn formerly occupied country beyond the

Vaal) under Kotapo i.au long previously taxen up their
i.oeition and residence. After t while , when strengthened
with further immigration from the Colony ani Natal, they
determined to endeavour to punish Koael1 "atse and Induced
lionteloe and other Barolonga from Thaba'Kohu to assist them,

oaier a promise that If successful, they (the Barolongs)

potaeebion of a certain tr ct
certain other tracts; after w;

. ) led to the agreement (now called a
squeezing process whicl 1®" to

CZiS/ON ) .

. t the tVne ,
i.e. that the country was a



a century before in the poeseasion c£ and occupied by

liehttrah'E tribe; that Kontaioa was not then, nor had been

in occupation thereof; and it was not from the fountains

and pastor .ige that had been squeezed out by tte Boera, it

cannot in my opinion be held that liuntaioa ceded the land

to the hotre:- it was not his to cede.

It strikes tin that you should at the commencement, get,

if yvu can on reccr d

jjit i'he grounao on which the iransvaal claims and

what it claims.

2nd ifhen did the Emigrant Boers first ofoas the

Vaal .Uver and drive out Moselexatze.

3rd From wnat territory didthey expel himf

4th Where did Uontsioa and his people locate themselves

after the flight of Idoseliicatze.

bth .ihere are the toacteine etc. frca which Mont,1c."

T rz z s s

the; 01.1.M ec

the-re hy the Treaty of !8 « with Wet.rho.rt

7th  Were there any Traneeaal Boer, in ooocpatlon o.

portion, of th.tcountry hef.e the Uiacoeery of UlanonU.T

If So. of what part, and where UU th.y -1r- enter Into

A

Sir P. Woaehou-e that that It waa .Bout

creed tto Vaal m *e A hi, a.ay fr® »1.

1650 , that the Boere bogati aftey the iroaty

four*tarns etc. & 1 'rv tniu® you will fio&t
between aterboer and Kaaurah, A tllJ,after 1842;
on inquiry, that no r

., a0 above the line



» bttemyted tc do so, before the discovery of dis.or.ds,
sud yretoriua letter to flouts corroborates that vie.
Ib8 *ttr, however, is strong evidence against the iransvaal,
for if the country belonged to them, why aalc Jantje to
cede it.

»¢ intentionally included the territory higher up the
Hart and Taal divers than .isterboer's claim extended. and

for several reasons,

lat W understood that British aub»ects wt.e there,
or soon woula be, en a,ed in digging.

Snd #e believed it to belong to Natives who were on
friendly ten-s vith us, and who through irnot ana -vents

had sought our interference.

3rd rhe territory was not within the Jurisdiction of

any civilised state; and therefore even more than Waterboer's

fell within the nea ini and intention o: the Imperial act*
True, Fretorius dial ed it aeteing within his jurisdiction,
tut we did not admit that: and besides even if it were, he
had Intimated to u* that he was uuaole to maintain oner
there.
His cxo.ll.uoy bad evidently fcrgott.u sct-e of th.

above reasons , although he hac s.eu the * tter of Sen.r.l
Hay to :r. Pretoria* of the 19th September 16,0. publi,ed

rlth government ,-tl,e $o0. 37, of 1870

(13 " L

In a letter, on * . bad **«

1) Wilmot p. 192.



47  :»
jigd v.Ti L1<'

" e . On

t0 the :or; a,

'y Ve eXteMed ¢c*">ben'f jurisdiction up

el . Were beyond VfaterboerW elutes .,ore

writory we. claimed by Vretcrlue, b,t ovmed by Aborlglnee,

who owe no a nc-. to him."

So#1¥ Vv 1 .x. .ii-ior* eltn In'b senior appears again VI was

surprise to i.d t-lt -xcellency had forgotten allabout

msuiuraltt poo; 1 -u :rea ON -hy we lad jplven C<jnpbell

jurisdiction over a portion o" the territory and that both

tic Excellency and Canpbell a reel that this was a iistake(1ly

Cor I h.av - jo<mdeal of cc/re; pondenco 1) verbally)

with 1. llereon;ant in one 0" hi' letters to Pretorlus he

laid much tress on the fact of the territory above V/aterboer's

ana that they had never formally been dispossessed of it
either by fair means or foul (except perhaps by paper

Proclamations) and in all our corresponds, ce with Brand and

the territories of Yiaterboer, and ,-tbc” ,Vnn -i> :na)

being on ’rieM ly ter: dth us." D

Southey ,a: now not content with merely instructing the

chief t iti.eSBj he was now inatructinb » e person who was

on

2). Soutbe to Axuot, 6th April, 1~1. A

3). upra p. 3.

r 1 L.'b €~i: *
4). fth ’cbruiry, ,u :



(1) -+ cocx, ..I rc.errec! to ceded nothlnt, but merely

defined ',hat :houM be the boundaries of the Baral.ng people,

oVel. v, onl.rdoa exercised chieftainship.

() ;at .ontsioa was not theirs, and never had been

rhU{over the people Inhabiting the country between the

Hart and Vaal livern.

10 chi':. n -©- then , and his successor now 1is,
the chief there.

(47 0;. oei’s never respected or held themselves bound
hy the a”“reei  t\' th ontsioa, and have since seized upon

the land: wvi ich »y that fv.,reenent they admitted to be his.
(5) T e .rynsvaiil pec le lave never occupied or

attempte . to ov m it until now This seei.s sufficient to

diE.o. e of their cl 1i: .

then = rkl;' vent on t trip to tne diamond fields, and
Southep felt that he should meet Lahurah'e Successor so that
hie people could also become dritlsh, as he saw trouble fro:,
individual “ventures putting up candidates as independent

chiefs and so claim land. 1)

AT unrrcpori ci tii . account of affairs at the Diamond

ir ,iven by Advocate Barry =) '*= a tom' 4~

fitted for M . POBt. A AnA hafl been bhdvine ecaht

ie deeervir of men 1e Mr, lirly braren effort.

nd one par
respect for private " il

Messrs Lilien-
, . far,— belonfcino

Amot, 16* February>
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feld & Hond.

Truter was sent along to raatore the p.aoe. Thle ha

attempted to do by exhorting the diggers to respect indi-

tiQual rights but as uroa them, that had he been in their

position, *m« wou,a av” done exactly the same thing* In

view of the general insecurity prevailing, Barry found

asms a certain amount of xeeneae fa* British annexation.

Meanwhile Arnot had received a copy of extracts from

the Land Be is try of the Orange jree dtate which he was go-

iUg to study and so unravel theman .er in which '"Major

saraen allowed hi .self to be deceived by the cBrs"U and a

weei later expressed hi..;self asbemg '"sauly disappointed"

w.th the vay thin s Aere -oin at the diamond fields.

Bat oonaolel hli.delt with the thou”it that the present con-

tagion would right Itself with the visit of Sir Henry

Bsrily S).

Southey, as has already been shown was using Arnot as a

tool, ihat Arnot had entered into the whole business tor bis

own end. l.be.ld. the point, .his is what Southey thought.

I, will be rem, bored that ..mot was loollng forward to

gesin. the woverncx at the Alggl gs and it was to that pluo.

that the followin. Wter 'as a.dr s ed.

others, to b secured- ¢ A~ A A etc. etc.

salary In an official t",- ! I;£ncUlty on that head,

but J uo not anticipate any rear A swallowed

Without us they are help*ua en and if, by our
Valina or the newcomers, /taxing,-u
up by the two fiepubUo

1) Arnot to JouU?y

8) Arnot t> douthey9-8-1«71'



has &Lvon- hjy, lucky ma, wuna If

and hi, sublets retain N

to private Individ,,”., they *111 alan ha
fortunate. \Ve.,cminot take aU the chewtnuts out of the fire,
and none for ourselves after they are out." I). The
underlined portion Is an interesting reflection on Southeyie
earlier protestations of altruistic disinterestednesse

The following: is another example of the extent to
which Barkly was under Southey’s thumb besides containing
core arguments against Brand’s claims.

2) »1 will prepare and forward to you a draft reply
to Brand’s letter of the 4th instant, but I must first
look up a little information, for he has again shifted his
ground 3) and I think by so doing so afforded us an op-
portunity for dUoinetly denying eone of Lie assertions.

He soys that «e proclaimed sovereignty over the
territory between the Orange River, the Veal River and the
Drakensberg, end by the first Article of the Convention
we transferred that territory to the Delegates

Kree State end therefore their boundaries wore the Orange

2) Southey to nnrk’J Marc sovereignty.

3) Now claimed by virtue of Orant
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Why, it may be asked, when they got all that

territory from us did they everoall in the High Commissioner

to settle boundary disputes between them and UoshesM Why

mete the Vett.org line? And why purchase from Adan Kok

the Philiipolii; lands? Or vihy do many other similar things

since the Orenge Free State became free?

It strike . me that you may now (end hat it should be

done) distinctly and emphatically deny that the vree state

obtained from us any land which was not there* jfore the

alienable territory of Adam Kok, or territory belonging

to Moshosh,i..oroko and other chiefs, with whom Sir H. Smith

entered into agreements stipulating that lands in the
occupation of our subjects should belong to us. In Sir

H. Srith *a proclamation, and in all his treaties, the

principle IS distinctly Isid down that the object was to

guard against territorial aggressions and to prevent

British Subjects from making further encroachments upon

Native lends. And the Sovereignty of H.ii. over the natives

was to be for purposes of International disputes only, in

all respects, they were to be as free and independent as

and he announced tuet tl of our subjects.

fr<»¢ further enoro,chm.cnt on * Adnm Kok's

We never attempt *l t( '-

t4e Native tribes,
nr any other VA

Griquas, Moroko* 3 1-0( i our Government existed

but divided the territory ova' A A OoTelTlient of



It JePrerented those districts only." 1)
-r. Brand meantime still refused to a%ree to arbitra-
tardir, 22U claim to the left bank of the Veal which
ined hue. been in the undisturbed possession of the
lor tue Ilr :t GO yenrs. Southey maintained that
tin. assertion would not hold water as '"their own books
show ti.m in to when he died, the late Cornelius Kok
thf) knowledge o" the Free State Government grant-
ing lands there to Griquas and tney selling to Boers or
nritiah subjects and others, up to as late as 1865. " 2)
Brand had concentrated 1,000 Burghers at Pniel and was
envisaging nrmed resistance. He was elso of the opinion
the* he 50 police which had been sent up to Jackson were

not sufficient. '"Are the diggers pretty generally armed?

If they are, I suppose it is with all sorts and conditions
of guns, requiring different descriptions of ammunition.
Would those on theleft side of the river, i tPniel,

Cawoods Hope, etc, resist the attempts of the Free State

to coerce then, if they had arms (Sniders) furnished to
them, and were encouraged by us to refuse payment of
licences, and not allow themselves to bo treated as
criminals for such refusal, or their properties seized?

If they would do it, they arenumerous andstrong enough

to oppose the Free State.
But there me trouble at the DIlg«lutis. Although

Southey felt sure that Brand would give Into the pressure
Whleh was being exerted end submit to arbitration, digger,
on the South side of the Vaal were causing the Colonial

Secretary considerable uneasiness. Mr. Hall, however,

continued to give trouble. VAL (S —



I tliink, u I had been In your place, T should have

told those people that as their letter appears to be a

v r' t!lnt 11 certain things were not done to suit them

they -vould create a deraareaticn favour of the Orange Free

State, I must warn them against the consequences of such

an act; and have t old

them what, as British Subjects, they

would become liable to if they did. Mr. Hull seems to be

desirous of getting up a row; but that must not induce us

to deviate f rod the proper course i.e. to bring about &

filr and just settlement of thecase." 1).

Led by a ewkeim Mr. Hall they presentedCampbellwith

a series of Resolutions demanding to know at onoe whether

in the event of their

resisting a Free State attempt at

coero511(5 the-! Into paying licence fees he (Campbell) woull

giro tie* protection. B). "Mr.Hall la. and alwayshas been

a troublesome fellow." Somehow orother the course of in-

trigue was not a smooth one.

(If those petitions desiring British Interventions were

not forthcoming. Southeydid not scruple at using t

.pare arms were ... A sIn09rely hope that the Free

the fOllOWiIlg 6tetement- w 8Xtremnles, lor I shall

State w ill not push ™ A A the evont of

deeply regret a hrve to employ Police «.i

hostilities, we should

ANNsutosjr g d A

troops. then
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Q. ..e 4th of April 1871, the Arbitration Commission
tomnenced Its se-rions at Bloemhof. 1)
A.not, who represented the Grlquns presented a case

Jhicii depended largely upon the information and suggestions

vhioh Southey had given him.

The Republic based their claim of the Sand River Con-
vention of 185P, conquest of tribes and occupation.
But, as has been previously remarked, so foreign were the
ideas of all the claimants to the realities of the case,
that no decision could have effectively met the case. &).

Campbell was nominated by Y/aterboer and Britain
(acting together) and O'Reilly by the Republic, to act as
joint assessors. It was obtlous from the start that these
two would disagree. We have seen how Campbell was continual-
ly receiving instructions and advice as to evidence from
south y and O'Reilly complained bitterly of the way he had

subtit to the prejudices of the Volksraed and to adduce
0

H sorts of irrelevant evidence, so that he could
i

leate as the
Hvb 1% «8”

- OTrarr.-1

s the mainspring evidence etc.
isked as to the best of sending b

GQt-lS TI* r *r”~ T d.nce - "Road to h ,-th

(. Southey to Campbell'



1inl " ' 1:1s aWai'd on the 17th of October 1071,

ar ; 1-13 ' ovm the Maquaaal as the boundary with . line

linking Its source to the headwaters of the Harts River.
All are agreed that on the evidence before him it

was the most equitable decision. What the Keate award

did do, .a>wevt v, was to give the Colonial Secretary and
his rove 'mor the added impetus to annex the Diamond
Fields.

As early as June, Southey informed Arnot that the
Governor had received authority from the Secretary of

State to act in the matter of Annexation - with the con-

currence of Parliament. '"We shall soon submit a scheme

to Parliament and I trust find members willing to concur.
When that has been accomplished we shall be able to talk

to the Free State with more confidence." 2) -

Of course, the transition to British sovereignty was

made considerably easier by the fact that "an irregular

form of Government", had already been in existence ever

since the appointment of Campbell as Magistrate. On the

hath July. Barkly wrote to Brand informing him ofthe fact

convinced that he bound itself to under-

that the Cape Parliament f

territory and be
of “overninG *

take the responsibility . # Ae'tloh might be neces-

prepared to pay th' °

'm -ory s°in



timt oouthey proceeded to puah measures through

Pulliai.ient, On the l.)th July a vugue enabling resolution

v,(lu , which approved of the principle of annexing

thad4 part o the Diamond Fields which belonged to the

Griquao. But the majorities by which this resolution was

passed were so small (one in the Legislative Council and

five in the Assembly) that it was obvious that the pros-

pedts of a Bill being passed wore exceedingly remote.

But on the 5th of August, in a very empty House, Southey

managed to secure a Resolution approving "such measures

as may appear - - necessary for themaintenance

of order among the diggers..... as well for the collectjcr

of revenue and the administration of justice.'

)o

Arnot was still, however, working to get the Batlapin

to petition for British annexation and was getting a little
patient with Southey for not .ending hta official recog-

nltlor as their Agent and Bepresentatlve , ,. In S.ptefher

ne succeeded In receiving their permission to do so, and

sent the relevant documents to Southey. =, -cutlv.

Council had already approved of the Draft Proclamation






The finding of suitable men to fill up the offices was

causing some delay. But he wanted everything to be perfect

ly ready before making a move.

And on the 17th November 1871, t o Diamond Fields,
with the Northern boundary as fixeu by Keate, were annexed.
Against the wishes of the Colonial O ffice. Against the

wishes of the Cape Parliament. A VERITABLE COUP D’ ETAT*



The lading part Wtih mchard Sou iley was * play

in the early controversies centring ar and diamonds in

ijjouth A frica, dates from early in ir ,?, when he received

a etone fro !a if. Boyer, with a request that he have it

c; 3 JII' . - This stone, or diamond as it proved
tu HO* ' 1°¢ 11 lackedup by & farmer*l child in the
aietiict w. ..ope i'own. Ahunter :JI, eneral trader,

C-.0in./, 4 tl one, and reaching soi-e :trran_enent

*,/ith the o mer, ;ihc\*eit to joyee, vho was a clerk to the

Civil Commissioner, an 1 acting clerk of the peace at

Colesber..

Jouthey isr.v liately became interested. He had the

stone er..v ine an valued by several experts in Cape Town

(including the ench Consul), and the general feeling ;aq
b;.d at ti f d li &-yve y such as this, important at

any time, became loubly so when the economic situation at
th Cape i * taken into account. Hichard Southey, there,ore,
decided to exploit it to the full. 1In a letter to :r.

Boyea 2) he states his intention of sending it to be

.XhIM tel at the laris Exhibition. 3) A local letV -

offered tiouthey S-ICO for the diamond, and in the same

letter he writes "of course, I cannot sell; and as it my

be worth ,.uch me ¢e, it is better to let it be sold in

inaand for account of C'Reilly %* A -uld get

the particulars you can about '.here iu A



-leoire to be the sort of clearing agent for diamonds at
tie Cape. I 3 reiterates time and time a.ain, tiat his
:ervicei are beinL rendered free of char je. 30 often

loes he {.tress tills point, that one often wonder: where
the loubt vai creeping in. Ke was striving hard to play
the part of Fairy Godmother to the new child of South
African poi'ticr. At one time he was tlireatenir®, to write

a history of Diamonds in South Africa - this was vrtien his

The following extract is typical of a number of his

letters of thi period. "I wish you woull give ;<e, as near

as you can, the ex: ct position of where each of the
diamonds thit have been sent from dope Town has been found
Mn-i the relative position of this one - any rough sketch
will do - showing the course of the Orange River and Vaal
Rivers from their .junction upwards - the position of the
{wots here each dia .ond was found and the distance in
each case fro the >d of the riv ir, an from each other.
T en r.dec of the farms an their owners, and the names of
fa* ncr- ons rho '.iscovered them - and the hands t,trough
si.ich they j;ave >a 1 before comin. , to me, an. nat has

become of the- since There was one as you know found
on th- Orange River in the Free State - if you can give
the position/that's discovery and the hands through which
it passed add that and any other information you think

w ill be useful - 1 want by(e) and bye to publish a short
history of oach with a view to benefit the country oy
dispelling the idea now existing that these gems have been

brought here from foreign soil." D -

indeed his goodness and desire to help inspired M.

Arnot to rite => "I A is reaUy * A

1) Southey to Chalmers th June IE®. L.B. 6-13'>.

:) Arnot to Southey 11th August, 18®.
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Uene'”U:; OU yOUr part an'- yourself and the Crym agents

to promise to undertake the realisation of the precious
stones for such natives as may find and have sent diamonds
to you, free of ehar.e." That ms in response to Southey's
-cture to protect the natives from being swindled, and by
payin.. most of them in kind, stimulating them to search for
lore. 1).
bue.Lit; ,.10 mteroBt, you have taken In these discoveries
'.nil 1 hope be su ‘icient excuse for my troubling you in
the matter." O’ :eilly vayr more frank. ).
SoutJiey'u first op/ortunity to act as agent came when
I. oxitte, the 'rench Consul, and evaluator for most of the
early Liamon.s o Tercl to ouy it. Southey told the Consul
th:t the hone .11 not belong to the Government, but tJi. t he
/oulci conv >y his Oder to the owner. 'Hie importan 3 of this
o 'for lies in the sentence - "I a . glad that you have given
ie liberty to make use of your note, as its publication will
loutties 8 ati. tulate persons to make search for more such
prizes." 3).
it 1I.. "er.itte’s o fer wr on condition that the stone
v/as sol I to him i. mediately for 3500, ) before the report
‘re.. nor on or. It. v lu rived. And . r. doyos Titing to
Joutl- >y >) leclinc *th o'f r on O' lei ly's behalf, making
t the une ti s cocm caustic remark: on . :erittel
<<ire Tor i good <r :ain. ).
"I do not vzant to be too inquisitive about where the
/stone ...

Southey to ns'V. hudlofid 5th June 1Bs68.

L) 7tli June 15 57.
.9th April 15 S7. L. . '5:
4) 1st :ay Ilv 67. Heritte to bouthey.
5) 11th May 1867« byes tobouthey, also IVoh I y

search Jor di jnond, ,



, F© ne Hrcovers lore,
“or the mrerent: hnt. %pv. occ .,ct more, I should he ,lad
0 03 “i-Lj; i jion to fingland. 1)
In the merjitnne, V/;>torboer had seized O’heilly’s
boat, 2) an Southey had to use his influence with
Amut# . tli roa ajit not be closed,"” - a faint
11 ::ev of Southey's Imperialist philosophy. This
incj lent culled dox-m the wrath of Chalmers, Resident
Magistrate n I Civil Co; naisrdoner at : ope Town. 3)
"Arnot is of course at the botto:i of all this to suit his
ovn ‘poses; . : hi.; nt-r 'c' ice in border matters should
be checked, otherwise serious consequences will be tie
re; alt". In spite of Chalmers' indija nt outburst,
Imot'. iiifluence was no , checked, and serious consequences
did result.
Southey's thoughts continued to be occupied with

1 ;jiionds, an 1 he -rites to dr. Green, the inefficient Civil

Co misaloner and : ajistrate at Colesberg, giving nim advice

/to eeecee

1st zay litv'> "
1) Southey to L.

9

Ui . arch 1IB67.
L) Boyos to aoutlicy, <'

3) 7tli June, 1 ' °

Pth Jwe
4) reen f 'om Southey,

dvi June 1 7/*
5) Joyed to Southey,



to inspect the diamond sielé6s. 1)

An,l .'Ulyan, the Agent for Cram Colonies, also
wrote "If this should leod to the discovery of a
Diamond M eld equal to tint found in I'araguoesu, in

razil, in the year If 45 it will be a fine thing for
"thti Cape Colony."

ooul’ioy was very keen on finding out whether
there was any possibility of a Diamond Field, and so
tr e persuading Atheretone to go on a tour of

aspection. "would it, do you think be of any practical
uee, if you ani Rulldye were to visit the locality for
the yurpose of examining end reporting upon the
geological forr atiom and would you be willing to do so
if iovemment provided transport? " :). Since there
motley collection of di _ers congregatirg
up there, he fe t that the Government "will have by and
bye to W:e measures for fervir® to the lublic Revenue a
fair proportion of the wealth which probably lies under
the hope Town soil." 3).

~outhey continued to try to stimulate interest in
th so new iscoveri”s, and he wrote to Julyan 4) "I
shall be glad if you get a g od account o4 the discovery
put into th I lustr ted Hews as there must be a diamond
be vrher<' these very large specimens crme from and it may
leas, to a more systematic search by qualified persons
beir K dc." A rumour as to the exi. tence of a diamond
mine now began to gain currency, and bouthey was sure
that the Government would take measures to secure its
rijVhtE, but up to the present they were not pro o.liv to

interfere with eeorchers. 5). Tut Chalmers, writing

/in . ® e e e

1)_ 3rd tTuly, I*C'V.
i), 16th July, 1867. L.B. 4-33.

3). ibid. . ™M

4). 16th November, 1’ 7.
j: Eth Auguat, 18 :7. L. , -76.
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vV o1 -ui-tii-e were snowing, and

eJ to Insert notices of tiie discovery. S§)

Oran-e Uiver aji.i about one hundred relies above Its
Junction with the Vaal. 4)
Overseas, however, people still refused to believe that
-.i- .onds ]iad really boon discovered. The most fantastic
LorioE :er toll, sue'. as, that the jems had been stolen
Aroi Lrc J -0 of .Brunswick some years before, and the

ievew /ere aioptin. t1i: novel way of jettin; rid of

of their having been brought here from other parts is
i.iiply ridiculou s, . such lad been the case the person
bringing then would not have entrusted them to the

/ho found the " But this did not stop

persons

tJulyan fron '.nforminy “outliey 5) th t "the bona fides of
your Diamond Helds liave of lato been prominently callei
in question."

On the If th :tirch, 1869, however, . c. uteytlc”
penned an excited letter to Joutliey, infonning him of the
LiscovB y of an r3, carat diamond. .r. dchalk van Niekerk

of "De halk", paid 500 sheep, 10 head of cattle and one

horse (about ,21JO) for it, an 'soii it oo Messrs.
! 2 '“.’-r.‘ '-V ) “ ". ' - A <.

- . L

)
/

% J» . ’
4 (V] AL e Avviiaiiu =~ L. 4 7 vl J Uil Ly Ly
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Bros., for m|200e ~ appreclable proflt_

t0 . ' L a Blunip m advlGe<l Sir P. VoJehouoe
! ° MS 3lamonds end of the,, are being

9

ound along the Vaal Riven both In the free titate

A

"IvV?IU " 0U” n",S 15 from Fort Elizabeth per tele, rat.,,e. 1

>ave, therefore, no partlculare that I can rely upon, bat

Jt 15 8613 ttat one dourer has dug up £30,000 worth and
that a party of six to have -p.,000 worth. doubt there

S°0 deal of .aeration in this, out I fancy it is

By tii nu .die of 1870, diamonds were being discovered

\4 “ 41t '°0 *- ei,ty miles above the junction of the Vaal

IL : the CranSe' 3) And newspapers of that date reported
t° , oi. L.lit] of i'ort Elizabeth had shipped 24,500 worth

on tli* .Tud,, te.uTvr. Diamond news was definitely worth
having. 4)

In JecembBr, IE6 , 5) Southey had reckoned that the
diaiTiOnd discoveries were sufficiently pro isir® to encourage
a company, an I a ir. .cliaston, tiie anatsr of the Telegraph,
went to dryland it was rumo >d, with tl;e object of gettin0

up a liamon 1 company.

.Carly in IE68, Chalmers in a vehement outburst 6)
deerl I the fact that no systematic search had been made. It
rat, ho pointe out, the merest chance that the diamonds on

the surface had been discovered. 3ut their presence

/definitely

1). L. 2 -3: 3.

). :0th ay, 1E70. L.3. 7-1-WU

3). To July n, th June, 1870. L. . 7-170.
4). HtJi June, IE7 « L. ./-1' ve

5). To wul a., ’th December, 1 o Ly o ~I(»

Ph imor to Southey, 1 th :arch, IE a.
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jx.-itd.i- (la thi national Archives - 3ape Town)

- o> Sei. I-oin’i.cial co rei pondence.

The ae fire divided into letters despatched, by
dout iewr, an.i letters receivel by Southey. Tlie
former or‘e cited b, their letter-book number
fii. pi i. (Tie page refers to tl.e beginning
of the letter, e. . L. . 7104.)

Tlic le .ters received are Cited by date, us the

eorti .g of them has not yet been completed.

Tluu.uUfii Jest Loh Lfifliiflu£aS2SrJ*

=)}

10,

a ,v.-

'A Jitia” eee eee eee ¢’ LAi.dlov.

A lendiceo to '"/otee ai Proceedings oi
Cure . rliaj ent" - ' VI anl i:
(dito i as "A.. P.")

«Cambrj Ige History of British drapire", Vol.7111.
"Cape Argus" - 1P71 ana U .2.
"-7fty Years in South Africa" ... Hicholson.

"History of South A frica" ...duiker.

"Hie Irff. and Ttoee’ o’ ::ich®M Jilmot.
boutliey"

"lie Hoad to the Horth"

.................... A " :tunilloa‘
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